### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL GRIFFIN, :

Appellant, :

vs. : Case No. 93,906

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

:

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KEVIN BRIGGS Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0520357

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

# TOPICAL

# STATEMENT OF TYPE USED

I certify the size and style of type used in this brief is Courier 12 point, a font that is not proportionally spaced.

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, pages in the record on appeal will be referred to by either an [S], referring to the supplemental volumes on appeal, or by a [V], referring to the remaining volumes. These symbols will be followed by the appropriate volume number and page number, [S2:33] for example.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the Circuit Court for Pinellas County, a grand jury returned an indictment charging Appellant, Michael Griffin, with two counts of first-degree murder. [V1:1-2] Filed on November 29, 1995, the indictment charged Juan Antonio Lopez as a co-defendant. [V1:1] The offenses, according to the indictment, occurred on either October 7th or 8th, 1995. [V1:1] The state filed a notice of intent to seek the death penalty. [V1:5] On June 13, 1997, Appellant entered pleas of guilty to the two capital offenses. [V9:1595,1598-1607;V13:2114-15] The Honorable Brandt Downey presided at the plea hearing. [V9:1595] The trial court entered a written judgment adjudicating Appellant guilty of the two offenses. [V9:1593-94]

On December 8, 1997, Appellant appeared for the penalty phase trial. [S1:1] He waived the jury for this proceeding. [S1:8-13] At the conclusion of the evidentiary portion of the trial, defense counsel waived closing arguments and a separate hearing under Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla.1993). [S3:346;S4:510-11;V14:2222-24] Both counsel for the state and for the defense filed written sentencing memoranda. [V11:2045-50,2051-61] After reviewing these memoranda, the trial court conducted a sentencing hearing on July 10, 1998. [V14:2220] Defense counsel waived the presentence investigation report. [V14:2225-26] The trial court imposed the death penalty. [V14:2250-51;V11:2082] The court prepared a written sentencing order (Append. 1), which was filed on July 10, 1998. [V11:2062-75] Defense counsel filed a timely notice

of appeal on July 29, 1998. [V11:2087] An amended notice of appeal was filed on August 11, 1998. [V11:2090-91] The trial court appointed the Public Defender for the 10th Judicial Circuit to represent Appellant on appeal. [V11:2095]

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## I. Appellant's Life Prior to His Drug Addiction

Several witnesses testified concerning Appellant's character prior to his using cocaine. Appellant started using cocaine in 1995. [S1:85] William Schnitzler became friends with Appellant in 1985 or 1986 while they were in school. [S3:368-69] Appellant had a high grade point average while in high school. [S2:303;-S4:430,432] After they graduated, Schnitzler continued to see Appellant every week. [S3:369] Schnitzler testified Appellant was "a great person" who was never violent or abusive. [S3:370] Chuck Hash met Appellant in 1991. [S3:363-64] Hash saw Appellant almost every day; he and Appellant were good friends. [S3:364] testified Appellant was "very outgoing, very personable person, do anything for a friend." [S3:365] Hash could not recall any time when Appellant was violent or abusive. [S3:367] Sandy Griffin, Appellant's mother, testified Appellant last lived with her in 1991; however, she had daily contact with him since that time. She testified that Appellant was very loving and [S4:427-28] compassionate as a child. [S4:429]

Tammy Young began dating Appellant in 1986. [S3:373] They dated for several years. [S3:373] Young and Appellant had a son. [S3:374-376] Appellant maintained contact with the child, who was ten at the time of the proceedings below. [S3:376-77] Photographs of Appellant being with his son were introduced into evidence.

[S3:379-80] Young confirmed that Appellant supported his son financially, never missing a child support payment until 1995. [S3:381] Young testified concerning Appellant's character during this time: "He's a very loving, compassionate man. I mean, he is so sweet, you know, and--I mean, he would not do anything to harm me or Kenny or anybody." [S3:385]

#### II. Appellant's Involvement with Drugs

James Griffin, Appellant's father, operated a refrigeration business called Moore's Refrigeration. [S3:350-51] Appellant worked for the business, beginning in 1989 when he graduated from high school. [S3:351-52] Mr. Griffin said Appellant was a very reliable worker. [S3:354] In 1995 Mr. Griffin learned that Appellant had been using cocaine, including crack cocaine. [S3:356-57] Mr. Griffin testified Appellant became "distant" and "lethargic." [S3:357] Appellant stopped working. [S3:358,391] Mr. Griffin said he did not know Appellant anymore. [S3:357]

Matthew Griffin, Appellant's younger brother, always had a good relationship with Appellant. [S3:387,390] Matthew testified Appellant was a "great worker." [S3:389] In 1995 Matthew noticed changes in Appellant. [S3:390-91] During this time, Matthew attempted unsuccessfully to locate Appellant. [S3:391-92] In 1995 Hash also noticed a change in Appellant. [S3:365] Hash said this change was caused by drug usage. [S3:365] About four or five months before the offenses, Hash's relationship with Appellant ended. [S3:366] Hash said Appellant became indifferent to every-

body. [S3:366] In 1995, Schnitzler asked Appellant to come to work for his company. [S3:371] Appellant was not interested and would not talk about what he was doing. [S3:371] Schnitzler testified Appellant's behavior was not what it had been previously. [S3:371-72]

Mrs. Griffin, Appellant's mother, testified she noticed changes in Appellant's behavior when he began neglecting his children and not contacting her. [S4:434] Appellant had, unexplainably, stopped visiting his son. [S3:381,382] Mrs. Griffin said she did not know Appellant's whereabouts for a time. [S4:434] Appellant had never previously smoked or used alcohol. [S4:435-36] But Mrs. Griffin learned in 1995 that Appellant might be using drugs. [S4:436] She tried to get Appellant into a drug rehabilitation center. [S4:436]

Tracy Griffin married Appellant about two weeks prior to the proceedings below. [S3:397,409] Tracy had known Appellant for three years. [S3:398] In late 1995 Tracy found cocaine inside one of Appellant's pockets. [S3:402] Tracy, because of the cocaine, told Appellant to leave her residence. [S3:402] He moved in with Nicolas Kocolis. [S3:403] Subsequently, Appellant tried to quit his addiction, but he resumed using cocaine. [S3:403] Tracy testified Appellant's personality changed. [S3:404] She said Appellant was no longer responsive to her or his children after he began taking drugs. [S3:419-20]

According to Tracy, Appellant had never harmed or threatened her. [S3:404-05] She denied that Appellant had pushed her during

a domestic dispute. [S3:410-12] Tracy acknowledged writing a letter in which she criticized Appellant for leaving her alone. [S3:415-17]

### III. The Crime Scene

In October of 1995, James Cleasas worked as a manager for Service America Corporation, a vending machine company. [S1:28,32] The company's headquarters was in Oldsmar. [S1:28] Drivers working for the company would collect money from vending machines and put the money into cloth bags that were sealed and numbered. [S1:32] These bags were placed inside lockers. [S1:32,33]

Cleasas knew Appellant because Appellant used to work for Moore's Refrigeration, a company that did service work for Service America. [S1:30,51] Moore's Refrigeration was sometimes called at night in cases of emergency. [S1:45] Appellant worked several times on the refrigeration in both the trucks and the freezers. [S1:30] Cleasas testified Appellant was present when the drivers brought in money. [S1:34] Two days prior to the murders, Service America requested that Moore's Refrigeration repair a freezer. [S1:46]

On the morning of October 8, 1995, a Sunday, Cleasas received a telephone call from Terry Goldych. [S1:36] Goldych, who had arrived at Service America at 10:30 a.m, informed Cleasas that the doors to the business were open and that he could not locate Tom McCallops. [S1:36,59] Mr. McCallops worked for Cleasas, operating the company's warehouse as well as performing other duties. [S1:29]

Goldych then discovered the bodies of Mr. McCallops and his wife Patricia McCallops. [S1:37] Hearing Goldych's report, Cleasas went to Service America where law enforcement had already arrived. [S1:37]

Officer John Mauro of the forensic science division of the sheriff's office, investigated the crime scene. [S2:215,216] videotape of the crime scene was filmed and played during the proceeding below. [S2:216-17,225] Photographs of the business were also introduced into evidence. [S1:66-67;V12:2105] Officer Mauro prepared a diagram of the interior of the building, indicating the locations of the loading area, storage area, lockers, and freezers. [S2:222-23;V12:2106] The diagram showed where Goldych had found the victims, inside refrigeration unit number four. [S223,229;-V12:2106] To get to this unit, a person would have to walk past the lockers where about \$11,300 in change and bills had been removed. [S1:38;S2:223-24] Some of these lockers had been cut open. [S1:38] Photographs of the lockers were introduced into evidence. [S2:220;V12:2107] On the outside and inside of one of these lockers, law enforcement found blood. [S1:74;S2:220-21,228] DNA testing on the blood indicated it was consistent with being Appellant's blood. [S1:62]

Officer Mauro testified that a hand truck belonging to Service America was located near some dumpsters at the end of a loading ramp, which was some distance away from the loading dock. [S2:219,226,238,240] Law enforcement found two milk crates near the loading area. [S2:227] The contents of these crates appeared

to have been dumped out. [S1:41;S2:227] Similar crates were found inside the freezer where the victims were located. [S2:227]

Mrs. McCallops was on the floor of the left side of the freezer, and Mr. McCallops was in the back. [S1:161;S2:201] Mr. McCallops was lying on his right side. [S1:162] Nearby boxes did not have any blood splatter on them. [S1:162] The police found a 9 mm. bullet casing near the doorway of the freezer. [S2:230,232] Six other 9 mm. casings were found inside the freezer. [S2:230,-233,237] Shotgun wadding and bullet fragments were also located. [S2:230-31,231-32,233,235] The shotgun wadding was located inside the freezer. [S2:235-36] From where the wadding was found, Officer Mauro could not determine the location of the person firing the shotgun. [S2:235-36] Boxes inside the freezer and very near to Mr. McCallops appeared to have been disrupted. [S2:232] An indentation in the back wall of the freezer appeared to have been made by a bullet. [S2:233-34] Law enforcement found a pair of glasses inside the freezer. [S2:233,238-39]

Dr. Marie Hansen, a forensic pathologist, conducted an autopsy on the bodies on October 9th. [S1:160-61,163-64] Photographs of the bodies were admitted into evidence. [S1:161-63,181-82;V12:2109] Dr. Hansen testified Mr. McCallops suffered five gunshot wounds, four from a handgun and one from a shotgun. [S1:164;S2:196] The shotgun wound was to the upper right chest and neck area. [S1:165] According to Dr. Hansen, the shotgun wound and a gunshot wound to the right hip resulted from the first shots fired. [S1:165] The shotgun was fired from a distance of between one to three feet.

[S1:166] In Dr. Hansen's opinion, the shot was fired while Mr. McCallops was standing. [S1:166-67;S2:196] Dr. Hansen testified that this wound was life-threatening and that victim would have died within several minutes. [S1:168;S2:199]

The gunshot wound to the hip went from Mr. McCallops' right buttock through the right thigh and exited through the hip. [S1:168] Dr. Hansen testified this wound was consistent with it being fired while Mr. McCallops was lying on his left side. [S1:169] She opined that the wound may have been fired before or after the shotgun blast but prior to the remaining three gunshot wounds. [S1:169] One of these shots was to the abdomen. Dr. Hansen said this wound was consistent with being fired while Mr. McCallops was in the position in which he was found, "on the floor on his right side with his left side up." [S1:171]

The third shot was located on the deceased's left thigh. [S1:171] This shot and the shot to the abdomen were fired from a distance of more than two to three feet. [S1:171-72] The wound to the thigh was not life-threatening. [S172] According to Dr. Hansen, this wound was consistent with Mr. McCallops lying on his right side when he received the wound. [S1:172]

A fourth shot entered the deceased a couple of inches below the left ear canal. [S1:173] Dr. Hansen testified that this wound could have occurred while Mr. McCallops was in the position that he was ultimately found in. [S1:173] Dr. Hansen believed that the shot to the jaw was consistent with someone approaching Mr. McCallops and firing at a distance closer than the other shots.

[S1:174-75;S2:200-01,202] This wound could have been fatal but not immediately. [S1:175;S2:199,202] Dr. Hansen testified the wounds had some tissue hemorrhage, indicating that Mr. McCallops was alive at the time of the shots; however, the doctor could not tell if Mr. McCallops was conscious. [S1:175;S2:200,201-02] Mr. McCallops moved from the time he suffered the shotgun wound to the time of the wound to his head. [S2:200]

Mrs. McCallops was lying just inside the freezer area. [S2:195] She suffered two gunshot wounds. [S1:175-76] One of the wounds entered her left breast and then went in and out of her left arm. [S1:176] This wound was consistent with her arm being held close to her left breast. [S1:177] The shot, which was fired from a distance of at least several feet, could have occurred while Mrs. McCallops was standing or lying down. [S1:177] Dr. Hansen believed that this gunshot was the first shot fired. [S2:194] The wound was not life threatening. [S1:178,192]

A second gunshot wound was located on her right temple. [S1:178] The bullet, which was recovered, entered her brain. [S1:178-79] Dr. Hansen testified that a very fine blood splatter on her right hand was consistent with Mrs. McCallops having her hand up near her head at the time of the shot. [S1:180-81;S2:193] Dr. Hansen said the position of her hand would be consistent with a defensive motion. [S1:181] The wound, which was caused by a handgun, would have quickly caused death. [S1:181;S2:192] Dr. Hansen testified the shot was fired by a person in close proximity to Mrs. McCallops. [S2:194]

## IV. The Investigation

Detective Robert Snipes was the lead investigator of the shootings. [S1:48] On October 28, 1995, Detective Snipes received a tip from Stephen Rodgers. [S1:49] Rodgers provided the name of Lewis McKee, a friend of Rodgers. [S1:50] McKee gave law enforcement the names of Appellant and Anthony Lopez. [S1:50] While at a bottle club, McKee had a conversation with Appellant and Lopez regarding a possible robbery. [S1:54] Detective Snipes later determined that Appellant and Lopez went to Shorty's Bar at 7:30 p.m. on October 5<sup>th</sup>. [S1:51-52] This bar was across the street from Service America. [S1:52] Detective Snipes testified Appellant and Lopez went to the bar several times in order to conduct surveillance of Service America. [S1:54]

On October 29<sup>th</sup>, Detective Snipes questioned Appellant after advising him of his Miranda rights. [S1:63-64] When Detective Snipes first mentioned Mr. McCallops, Appellant did not become emotional. [S1:83] As the interview progressed and Detective Snipes showed Appellant a photo of Mr. McCallops, Appellant became emotional. [S1:84] When Detective Snipes questioned Appellant regarding his failure to pay child support and care for his children, Appellant began to cry. [S1:85] Appellant indicated he knew Mr. McCallops. [S1:65] Appellant knew Mr. McCallops filled in for other drivers and worked primarily in the warehouse. [S1:65]

Detective Snipes knew Appellant sold drugs for Kocolis, a local drug dealer. [S1:79] Detective Snipes testified Appellant

had a dependant relationship with Kocolis, doing anything Kocolis requested. [S1:79] Kocolis assisted in the planning of the robbery and received money from the robbery. [S1:81,90] Kocolis provided the shotgun and the handgun that were used in the robbery. [S1:81, 99-100] Kocolis was paid for this shotgun as well as for the handgun. [S1:99] During Detective Snipes's questioning of Appellant, Appellant expressed a fear of implicating Kocolis in the offenses. [S1:85-86] Appellant indicated he and Kocolis had been friends who sometimes socialized together. [S1:91-92] Nonetheless, Appellant was willing to assist law enforcement in prosecuting Kocolis. [S1:100]

Detective Snipes questioned Kimberly Ally on November 10, 1995. [S2:325] Ally knew Appellant, Lopez, and Kocolis. [S2:325] She described Kocolis as her roommate at one time. [S2:326] Ally had a conversation with Lopez in early November, 1995. [S2:326-28] While they were sitting in an automobile, Lopez told Ally that Appellant climbed a fence in order to gain access to Service America. [S2:330] Appellant cut himself on the fence. [S2:330] According to Ally, Lopez told her that Appellant opened the door to the freezer and shot Mr. McCallops with a shotgun, spraying Mrs. McCallops with blood. [S2:331] To the contrary, Detective Snipes found no blood spray on Mrs. McCallops. [S2:332] Lopez told Ally that he shot Mr. and Mrs. McCallops in the head. [S2:332-33]

Law enforcement also interviewed Cynthia Lambert. [S1:86-87] Lambert related what Lopez had told her concerning the robbery. [S1:87] Lopez indicated he watched the victims while Appellant

obtained the money. [S1:87-88] After Appellant returned and shot the victims, he told Lopez to make sure "it was done." [S1:88] Mrs. McCallops died of a gunshot wound to the head caused by a nine millimeter gun. [S1:88] Lopez admitted that he possessed this gun during the robbery. [S1:88] Lopez told Lambert that, in his opinion, Appellant intended to kill the victims from the outset because Appellant did not disguise himself. [S1:92]

A day or two prior to the shooting, Appellant had obtained the handgun. [S1:93] However, Lopez had agreed to purchase this firearm from Kocolis. [S1:94] Law enforcement never recovered the handgun or the shotgun. [S1:94] Detective Snipes testified that no evidence suggested that Appellant possessed the handgun on the day of the homicides. [S2:333]

### V Events Preceding Shootings

Melissa Clark was Kocolis' former girlfriend. [S1:114,135] She, seventeen at the time, lived with Kocolis during October of 1995. [S1:114,135] Appellant and Lopez also lived in the residence. [S1:114-15] Clark testified Kocolis always had money although he did not have a job. [S1:138] Many people came and went from the residence. [S1:139] According to Clark, Lopez was Kocolis' "do person." [S1:143,155] Lopez would do whatever Kocolis asked. [S1:143-44] She testified that Appellant was a friend of Kocolis. [S1:144]

Mary Hall also testified that Appellant socialized with Kocolis and his family. [S2:246] Hall started dating Appellant

during the first week of October, 1995. [S2:243,258] Hall testified Appellant did not have a job during this time. [S1:68-69;S2:244] According to Hall, Appellant was in debt, owing child support and money on a truck. [S1:68-69;S2:244] Hall claimed Appellant told her that he wished he could "knock somebody over the head to pay his bills." [S2:247]

Clark testified Appellant, Kocolis, and Lopez discussed plans to commit a robbery in Oldsmar on October 7<sup>th</sup>. [S1:116,137] According to Clark, Appellant knew the place that was to be robbed. [S1:116] Clark claimed Appellant was the first to mention the robbery. [S1:117] She observed Appellant taking off a gold chain and handing it to Kocolis in exchange for a nine-millimeter gun. [S1:118,140] This exchange occurred on October 6<sup>th</sup> at Heather's trailer. [S1:121,139] Cocaine was present in the trailer. [S1:139] Appellant put the gun inside his van. [S1:119] Appellant also kept a shotgun underneath the driver's seat of his van. [S1:95,119-20;S2:255] Appellant and most of his family used shotguns in hunting. [S1:99]

On October 6<sup>th</sup>, Appellant and Lopez went to Shorty's Bar, intending to commit the robbery. [S1:71,73,117-18] However, they decided not to commit the crime that night. [S1:72,121] Clark stated Appellant and Lopez left again the following day to commit the robbery. [S1:121] They planned to contact Kocolis on the following day. [S1:121]

### VI. Events Subsequent to the Shootings

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