#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL GRIFFIN,

Appellant,

vs. CASE NO. 93,906

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

## ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

#### CANDANCE M. SABELLA

Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0445071
Westwood center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

###

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

(SR1: 7-15)

Despite this thorough questioning and explanation, appellant contends that his affirmative responses to the court's inquiry does not demonstrate that his waiver was knowing and intelligent. He contends that this is so because the court's explanation was limited and misleading. This claim is not supported by the facts or the law.

In <u>Hunt v. State</u>, 613 So.2d 893 (Fla. 1992), this Court rejected a similar claim by Hunt that she did not voluntarily waive a penalty-phase jury, stating in pertinent part:

The facts pertinent to Hunt's first and second claims concerning her guilty plea are as follows. On May 7, 1990, the State announced it was ready for trial and that Hunt wished to withdraw her previously entered plea of not guilty and enter a guilty plea. Hunt's attorney agreed that Hunt wanted to enter a guilty plea and stated that she wanted to testify at the Fotopoulos trial. Both parties waived a penalty-phase jury and agreed to leave sentencing entirely within the trial court's discretion. It was also agreed that

Hunt's sentencing would be deferred until after the Fotopoulos trial so that any information coming to light during Fotopoulos trial could be considered in Hunt's sentencing. Hunt stipulated as to the factual allegations setting up a prima facie case for the entry of the plea. Hunt's attorney stated that it had been explained to Hunt that, notwithstanding her plea and future cooperation, it was still a possibility that the death penalty would be imposed. prosecutor reiterated that the State was in no way waiving its intent to seek the death penalty, that there had been no backroom negotiations and no understanding that the State would not seek the death penalty. Hunt's attorney explained that he discussed the plea at length with Hunt and that they both agreed that "this plea and her offer to testify and cooperate in view of the facts and circumstances is really the only sensible and logical choice under scenario." The prosecutor further stated that the State had not agreed that it, in fact, would call Hunt as a witness at the Fotopoulos trial.

In formally accepting her guilty plea, the trial judge outlined the plea agreement to Hunt as follows:

You would plead guilty as charged to all of the counts in the Information and the Indictment.

The sentencing phase in your case would be postponed until the Fotopoulos matter was tried and disposed of, and, ma'am, I am not sure if that is going to be one trial, two trials.... Those are things that have yet to be decided.

We would postpone the sentencing phase of your case until after the Fotopoulos trial.

There would be a sentencing phase or sentencing trial in your case. The State is going to seek the death penalty whether or not you cooperate in the trials of Mr. Fotopoulos.

My understanding is both the State of Florida and you are going to waive an advisory opinion as to life or death. You are going to try that second phase without the Jury, with Judge alone, with myself alone and it will be up to me to decide an appropriate opinion, which essentially will be either life in prison or the death penalty.

That is my understanding of what is happening.

Is that your basic understanding?

To this Hunt responded, "Yes, it is." Later in explaining the significance of the plea to Hunt the court stated:

I think one of the other important things is that whatever evidence presented in the Fotopoulos trials and my understanding from what the attorneys are saying here, you are going to testify at the Fotopoulos trials. I am going to consider your testimony and anything else that I hear in the Fotopoulos cases as part of the evidence in your sentencing hearing. I am going to take those into consideration and we definitely will have a sentencing hearing in your case. You need to know that the State is still going to seek the death penalty and when you enter the plea, you need to be aware that certainly at this point and I think you should consider from now on, they are going to seek the death penalty no matter what you do.

# Ultimately the sentencing decision will be up to me.

After thoroughly explaining to Hunt all the implications of entering the plea, ensuring that her plea was knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily made, and finding that there was a factual basis to sustain the plea, the court accepted Hunt's plea of guilty.

\* \* \*

Finally, we find no merit to Hunt's claim that she did not voluntarily waive a penalty-phase jury. Her position appears to be that although her waiver of an advisory jury clearly was voluntarily made at the time she entered her plea, the waiver was not effective because the plea agreement was rendered void when she was sentenced prior to Fotopoulos' trial. During the plea colloquy, it was thoroughly explained to Hunt that she was giving up her right to an advisory jury as part of the agreement. The trial court's finding at the time of accepting the plea that Hunt's decision to waive an advisory jury was made knowingly and voluntarily is supported by the record. We have previously rejected Hunt's underlying premise that the entire agreement was rendered void.

Hunt v. State, at 893-95, 899 (emphasis added)

A comparison of Hunt's colloquy to the inquiry of Griffin demonstrates that the inquiry conducted in the instant case was sufficient. The court clearly outlined to Griffin what rights he would be waiving and the purpose of the penalty phase jury recommendation.

Moreover, counsel for Griffin stated for the record that he had thoroughly discussed Griffin's options with him and his parents. Counsel stated:

MR. WELLS: I want the Court to know this decision has been made with consultation with Mr. Griffin's parents. We spent a lot of time yesterday discussing the facts of the case, the reasons we would do this. Also present in the courtroom is Ms. Wells, (phonetic) who was going to help us pick a jury. She looked at the case yesterday and talked to Mr. Griffin this morning here in court. So I believe this certainly is done with a knowing and

intelligent waiver of his right to having a jury make this decision.

(SR1: 15)

Additionally, in the defendant's sentencing memorandum, Griffin's counsel notes that "[a]fter lengthy discussions with Mr. Griffin, he decided to waive presenting his mitigation evidence to a jury and instead chose to proceed to the penalty phase before the court.

In <u>Wuornos v. State</u>, 676 So.2d 966, 968-70 (Fla. 1995), this Court rejected Wuornos' contention that her plea was invalid where the record showed that she was represented by counsel who assured the court that her plea was knowing and voluntary. This Court stated:

The obvious evil addressed by the United States Supreme Court in Boykin [v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969)] was of **poorly advised defendants** unwittingly subjecting themselves to death penalties by a guilty plea, or of facts that simply do not merit a death penalty. believe that this is the type of "prejudice" contemplated by rule 3.172(I). however, the record substantially and competently supports the trial court's finding of a basis to accept the plea. herself indicated she was aware of penalties she faced, knew the rights she was abandoning, and voluntarily had agreed to Although the procedures used plead guilty. below were not the most desirable, they nevertheless did not prejudice Wuornos within the meaning of rule 3.172(I). The record refutes any contention she was poorly advised or unwittingly subjected herself to the death penalty, and the facts here are of a kind that would warrant the death penalty in a full

**trial.** (FN9) Accordingly, the deviations from the rule did not rise to the level of error.

Wuornos v. State, at 968-70 (emphasis added)

Griffin, like Wuornos, has failed to establish actual prejudice from any alleged failure of the judge to inform him of the various nuances of a penalty phase. This claim should be denied.

#### ISSUE II

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY FAILED TO CONSIDER A MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE PRESENTED BY THE DEFENSE?

Griffin next urges that the trial court erred in failing to consider his potential for rehabilitation and productivity as a non-statutory mitigating factor. He further contends that the state cannot show beyond a reasonable doubt that the failure to consider this factor is harmless. It is the state's contention that this claim is procedurally barred, that the trial court's order sufficiently addresses all of the mitigating evidence argued to the court and that error, if any, is harmless.

#### Procedural Bar

The written sentencing order which appellant is now challenging was orally pronounced at the sentencing hearing held on July 10, 1998. No challenges to the sentencing order were raised at that time. Prior to \$924.051 becoming effective on July 1, 1996, errors regarding sentencing orders could be raised for the first time on appeal because "when sentencing errors are apparent on the face of the record, the purpose of the contemporaneous

Section 924.051, Florida Statutes (1996) applies. Section 924.051 became effective on July 1, 1996. Appellant entered a guilty plea on June 13, 1997 and was sentenced on July 10, 1998. The statute provides that the party challenging the judgment or order of the trial court has the burden of demonstrating that a prejudicial error occurred in the trial court and precludes review unless a prejudicial error is alleged and is properly preserved or, if not properly preserved, would constitute fundamental error. Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 685 So.2d 773 (Fla. 1996).

objection rule is not present because the error can be corrected by a simple remand to the sentencing judge." <u>Davis v. State</u>, 661 So.2d 1193, 1197 (Fla. 1995).

Now, however, review of appellant's challenge to the written order is precluded because the issue was not preserved for appeal as required by Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) and §924.051 Florida Statutes (1996). Cf. Neal v. State, 688 So.2d 392 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997). §924.051(3), Florida Statutes, and Rule 3.800(b) require defendants to preserve sentencing errors by making a contemporaneous objection or filing a written motion to correct sentence within 30 days after entry of the sentence. Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 685 So.2d 773, 775 (Fla.1996); Amendments to the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, 685 So.2d 1253, 1271 (Fla.1996); Collins v. State, 732 So.2d 1149, 1151 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999); Mason v. State, 698 So.2d 914 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). Griffin neither raised a contemporaneous objection nor filed a written motion to correct sentence pursuant to Rule 3.800(b). Therefore, as Griffin's claim that the trial court failed to address the potential for rehabilitation does not constitute fundamental error, this claim should be denied as procedurally barred. Cf. <u>Davis v. State</u>, 661 So.2d 1193, 1197 (Fla. 1995) (The failure to file written reasons is not fundamental error that may be raised at any time if the sentence is within the maximum period allowed by law.)

Assuming, arguendo, that this claim has been properly preserved, Griffin still bears the burden of establishing prejudicial error. 2 Griffin has established neither error nor prejudice. The thirteen page written order sentencing Griffin to death contains a thorough and detailed analysis of the facts of this double homicide, as well as the aggravating and mitigating evidence presented. Contrary to Griffin's assertion, the sentencing order in this case not only complies with the approved procedure, but shows that the trial court bent over backwards to give full consideration to the proffered mitigation. Although the order does not specifically mention the word rehabilitation, it does show a thoughtful and deliberate weighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances, and consideration of the evidence argued in support of the claim of potential for rehabilitation. The court gave good faith consideration to the mitigation presented by Mungin v. State, 689 So.2d 1026, 1031 (Fla. 1995) (rejecting Mungin's claim of error based on court's failure to

In <u>Nelson v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S250 (Fla., May 27, 1999), this Court, while declining to determine if §924.051 was applicable to Nelson's conviction, nevertheless, noted: . . . "Section 924.051 shifts the burden of establishing error to the moving party: '[T]he party challenging the judgment or order of the trial court has the burden of demonstrating that a prejudicial error occurred in the trial court.' §924.051(7), Fla. Stat. (Supp.1996). Prejudicial error is defined as 'an error in the trial court that harmfully affected the judgment or sentence.' §924.051(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (Supp.1996). Prior to this change, the burden was on the benefitting party to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not affect the verdict and was therefore harmless. <u>See State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla.1986)."

specifically evaluate the substance of the evidence of appellant's childhood, his good prison record or evidence of alcohol and drug use); Bogle v. State, 655 So.2d 1103, 1109 (Fla. 1995) (fact that the trial judge did not specifically list Bogle's artistic talent and capacity for employment in mitigation is insufficient to overrule the trial judge's imposition of the death penalty given the minor weight that would be afforded to those factors.)

In the instant case, the lower court found four aggravating circumstances, including: 1) prior violent felony, 2) during the commission of a kidnapping, 3) avoid arrest and, 4) pecuniary gain. (R11; 2064-68) In mitigation the court found no significant criminal history, Griffin's drug usage, Griffin's family and employment background, Griffin's good jail conduct and courtroom behavior and Griffin's remorse. (R11: 2069-73) The sentencing order thoroughly sets forth the basis of each of these factors given the fact that the sentence was based on a double homicide resulting from a well thought out plan to rob Service America. Griffin's plan included making sure an innocent employee was at the facility in order to allow Griffin to bypass the security system. The plan also included bringing a nine millimeter gun, as well as a shotgun to use during the robbery. This calculated plan was balanced against relatively insignificant mitigating evidence. Accordingly, error if any, was harmless.

The harmlessness of this alleged error is further evidenced by the lack of emphasis placed on this factor in the defendant's sentencing memorandum. (R11: 2045-50) The reference to the potential for rehabilitation was limited to one line in the sentencing memorandum which was incorporated within the context of Griffin's employment history and his status as a good provider. (R11: 2048) Griffin's employment history and his status as a good provider were clearly considered by the trial court in the sentencing order. The court's failure to mention this one word does not establish prejudicial error. Hauser v. State, 701 So.2d 329, 331 (Fla. 1997) (finding failure to specifically mention PSI in sentencing order harmless); Thomas v. State, 693 So.2d 951, 953 (Fla. 1997) (finding failure to mention mitigating evidence in sentencing order harmless where evidence in aggravation massive).

Based on the foregoing, the state urges this Court to deny the claim and affirm the sentence. However, should this Court determine that resentencing is necessary, the state disagrees with appellant's assertion that this Court should follow <u>Valle v. State</u>, 502 So.2d 1225 (Fla. 1987) and order a new jury recommendation and sentencing proceeding. Griffin has already waived a jury

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Appellant concedes that §924.051 applies but contends that the error in the instant case is constitutional error which places the burden on the state to prove harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. Assuming, arguendo, that it is the state's burden to establish harmless error, the state asserts that based on the substantial number of aggravating circumstances, balanced against the limited mitigating evidence, it is beyond a reasonable doubt that alleged error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

recommendation. Further, where, as in the instant case, the error asserted is only in the written order, all that is required on remand is for the trial court to reevaluate the evidence before it and provide a new order for this Court's review. Crump v. State, 697 So.2d 1211, 1212 (Fla. 1997); Ferrell v. State, 653 So.2d 367, 371 (Fla. 1995).

### ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY CONSIDERED TWO AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES THAT REFER TO THE SAME ASPECT OF THE OFFENSE.

Appellant next contends that the trial court's consideration of both during the course of a kidnapping and pecuniary gain was improper as both factors refer to the same aspect of the crime. It is the state's position that this claim is without merit and that the sentence was properly imposed.

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